
THE PAPERS OF


T H O M A S  J E F F E R S O N  


k B

k 

From William Thornton 
Dear sir City of Washington 16th Novr 1809 

I had the honor of your very friendly Letter of the 11th Ultimo, and 
am much pleased with your wishes to colonize so many Objects of util-
ity and delight. In this Country we have every climate & soil, and cer-
tainly whatever will Bourish on Earth will Bourish with us. I am glad 
the pair of Sheep got safe, & I will with great pleasure send some more 
Fig trees in the way you mention, or by some safe conveyance. The 
dry weather extended to many parts of this Country & the neighbour-
ing States, which will render corn very dear, though to the South, & 
particularly in Georgia the Crops are very abundant.—I am much 
obliged by your kind intention of sending me some of the Ane Mar-
seilles Fig, which I shall not value merely for their intrinsic worth, but 
more especially for the sake of the Donor.—Capt. Coles informed me 
of the increase of your Shepherds’ Dogs, and that it was your wish to 
extend the Breed. I should have expressed a wish to have a pair, but I 
knew you had many Friends who would perhaps have the same Incli-
nation, & I thought it better to wait. If hereafter you could favour me 
with the Breed I should be thankful, for I am very sheepishly in-
clined.—I have now to ask of you a very great favour, not solely for 
myself, but for our Country. My Friend Washington Bowie Esqre of 
George Town, a Gentleman of great respectability, worth, & honor, at 
the Instance of General Mason, Mr Barlow, some others and myself, 
has been, within these few Days, induced to send a large Vessel from 
her intended Course, to Spain for Merino Sheep; but well aware of the 
DiDculty of obtaining them we require the aid of all our inBuential 
Friends. We have written Letters to Mr Erving, our Charge d’ACairs, 
but a few Lines from you to him would rouse his energy in our 
favour,—and would lay us all under great Obligation. Our Letters 
may like Sparks of Electricity give a degree of Excitement, but one 
from you would like lightning irresistibly pervade his System.—The 
Object is of such consequence to this Country that no ECort should be 
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left untried. If Mr Bowie should succeed he has promised to favour us 
each with a few at the price they cost, and I will either obtain some for 
you, on the same Terms (though I did not think it proper to mention 
this to him, when I proposed writing a line to you on the Subject) or 
you shall have some of mine, if obtainable. He thinks of sending to 
Cadiz, where he has good mercantile Friends; though I fear the En-
glish will perhaps interfere in an Enterprise so likely to beneAt our 
Country.—If he send to Barcelona (in possession of the French) I fear 
the Cruisers oC Gibralter & Cadiz may interrupt our modern Jason.— 
Perhaps Tarragona might be better. It will require some advice & cau-
tion, & any hint from you will be highly esteemed. A southern Port 
will be favourable in obtaining them for the Sheep are always driven 
South in winter.—Mr Bowie will send oC his Vessel the latter end of 
next week, which only gives an opportunity of an answer by the re-
turning or succeeding post.—I am in hopes this may be received in 
time for it is possible the sailing of the Vessel may be delayed a day or 
two. My Family reciprocate their best respects to you. I have the 
honor to be very sincerely & respectfully 

Yr &c William Thornton— 

RC (MHi); at foot of text: “Honble Thomas JeCerson”; endorsed by TJ as received 
22 Nov. 1809 and so recorded in SJL. 

From Aron S. Barton 
Dear Sir Jay 17 Novr 1809 

Dire necesity Obliges me to request of you the Loan of three 
thowsand Dollars to inable me to [prosecute] a Cotton factory, which 
I had previusly intended to [Rear] Beliveing You to be the patron of 
institutions I make this application to you CoAdently Believeing you 
and your friends will Contriburt this Small Sum to My Necesity and 
Greatly Oblige Dear Sir your Friend—Beliveing this to be a Singu-
lar request from a young man 28 years Old in the State of Massachu-
setts Dept of Mane in the Solitary Town of Jay & County of 
Oxford—What ever Dear Sir you May think Do not expose my 
Name for I put my Trust in God Believeing through his Assistance 
(with frugality and industry) I Shall arive in peace to that County 
from which no Traviller returns 
Known to you and Me and no other Aron S. Barton 

RC (MHi); two words illegible; at foot of text: “Thomas JeCerson Esq Late Presi-
dent of the USA”; endorsed by TJ as received 3 Dec. 1809 and so recorded in SJL. 
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From Benjamin B. Ford 
Sir Richmond Nov. 17th 1809 

Benjn B Bernard some time since obtained a patent from the U 
States for a Machine said to be either invented or improved upon by 
him. whether he did or not I am unprepared to say—sometime after-
wards I in conjunction with my brother became possessed of the 
right for this State (Virga) and upon my application to sundry per-
sons for the premium who had built upon his plan, They refused to 
pay alledging that since you had retired to Monticello you had ex-
pressed your disapprobation of the conduct of Mr Bernard in obtain-
ing the patent, and that you morover thought it not worth any thing 

As I am deeply interested in this event I hope you will have the 
goodness to inform me whether or not the above report be correct 
that I may take my measures accordingly 

I am with Respect Your mo Obd Svt Ben B Ford. 

RC (MHi); at foot of text: “Tho. Jef- On 4 July 1807 Benjamin B. bernard 

ferson. Esqr”; endorsed by TJ as received complained from Washington, D.C., to 
22 Nov. 1809 and so recorded in SJL. Thomas Mann Randolph about delays in 

obtaining his patent and accused William 
Benjamin Bowles Ford (ca. 1780– Thornton, the patent commissioner, of 

1858) moved in 1811 to Georgetown, “using every eCort to Swindle Me out of 
Kentucky, where at various times he my rights” by preparing a patent but 
farmed, ran a school, practiced law, and threatening to burn it when Bernard re-
served as clerk of the Scott County Court fused him a partnership (RC in DLC; ad-
(William Henry Perin, History of Bour- dressed: “Thomas M Randolph Esqr 

bon, Scott, Harrison & Nicholas Counties, Near Milton Virginia”; stamped and 
Kentucky [1882], 191; Lindsey Apple, postmarked; endorsed by TJ: “Thornton 
Frederick A. Johnston, and Ann Bolton Dr Wm a letter concerng him”). Bernard 
Bevins, eds., Scott County Kentucky: A nevertheless received a patent related to 
History [1985], 98; DNA: RG 29, CS, “thrashing machines” on 30 Nov. 1807 
Scott County, Kentucky, 1820, 1850). (List of Patents, 62). 

To James Martin 
Poplar Forest Nov. 17. 09 

According to what passed in conversation between us the other day 
I inclose you an authority to sell my Ivy creek lands on the terms then 
stated; that is to say for 1200 pounds paiable one third in hand, a 
third at the end of a year, & the remaining third at the end of two 
years; the purchaser giving bond & satisfactory security, or a deed of 
trust to sell the lands on default of paiment on his account towards 
paiment of the balance. for your trouble I agree to relinquish to you 
one twelfth of the price obtained when recieved. I have thought it 
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best not to specify the terms in the authority given, but to refer to our 
verbal explanations because that paper must be shown: 

If the purchaser on closing the bargain with you, will come down 
to me with his cash paiment & copy of the agreement I shall write & 
execute a deed to him: and I shall be glad to learn from you what is 
done, by the Arst post after it is done 

I am Sir 
Your humble servt 

Th: Jefferson 

SC (MHi); at foot of text: “Mr James 29 Aug. 1816; TJ to Yancey, 13 Sept. 
Martin”; with enclosure subjoined; en- 1816, 6, 19 Mar. 1817, 10 Nov. 1818, 11 
dorsed by TJ. Feb. 1820; TJ to Francis Eppes, 17 Feb. 

1825). 
James Martin subsequently operated a Martin and TJ had conversed earlier 

sawmill near Poplar Forest. TJ did busi- this month about the sale of TJ’s ivy 

ness with him on several occasions be- creek lands (Notes on Ivy Creek 
tween 1816 and 1825 (Joel Yancey to TJ, Lands, 14 Nov. 1809). 

e n c l o s u r e  

Authorization to Sell Ivy Creek Lands 

I hereby authorise James Martin who lives adjacent to my lands on Ivy 
creek, to wit the 374. acres formerly Tullos’s & 100. acres formerly Stith’s, on 
the terms explained in conversation together, to make sale of the same which 
being done agreeable to the said terms, I bind myself to convey & warrant a 
good title in fee simple to the purchaser, witness my hand this 17th of No-
vember 1809 

SC (MHi); entirely in TJ’s hand; subjoined to covering letter. 

To James Steptoe 
Poplar Forest. Nov. 17. 1809 

Th: JeCerson will thank mr Steptoe to search his records for an 
entry of Richard Stith, formerly Surveyor of Bedford, for 98. acres 
of land on Ivy creek or it’s waters. the entry was made before 1773. 
an authentic copy is requested. he salutes mr Steptoe with esteem & 
respect. 

SC (MHi); dateline at foot of text; en- the General Court. Steptoe was appointed 
dorsed by TJ. clerk of Bedford County early in the latter 

year and held the oDce until his death. 
James Steptoe (1750–1826) acted as Starting about 1782, he forwarded natu-

TJ’s agent in Williamsburg from at least ral history specimens to TJ as they ar-
1770 until 1772, while serving as an ap- rived from the frontier. During his retire-
prentice to Benjamin Waller, the clerk of ment TJ often visited Federal Hill, 
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Steptoe’s home about three miles from 67–79; PTJ, 1:73, 28:113–4; MB, 1:30; 
Poplar Forest (Frederick Johnston, Me- Chambers, Poplar Forest, 58–9; Rich-
morials of Old Virginia Clerks [1888], mond Enquirer, 25 Feb. 1826). 

From Lafayette 
My dear friend La Grange 18h November 1809 

I Have Been for a Long time in daily and disappointed Expecta-
tions of a Letter from You, Nor do I know when I may obtain the 
Comfort of Your Correspondence—in the Mean while Much Havock 
Has Been Made in Europe—I don’t Speack of the British Expedition 
Under Lord Chatam—it is But justice to Say that, whatever Be their 
intention, they did as Litle Harm as possible Considering their Num-
bers and the State of the Coast—But in Spain there is a Scene of 
Energetic Resistance, Mutual Barbarities, Horrid and Hitherto 
Unavailing destruction—the Emperor of Austria Has thought Him-
self obliged to Sign a peace, not So Bad indeed as the threats proph-
esied Against Him, But Such as Greatly diminishes His inBuence, 
His territory, and Leaves His friends at the Mercy of the Con-
queror—the two only people who Have Spiritedly Opposed our Ar-
mies, Spaniards and tyrolians, were Unencumbered with Monarchs 
and princes—You will Hear, altho’ it Has not Been in the Gazettes, 
How a young man of Eighteen, impressed with the persuasion of a 
public Service, went from Erfurt to Vienna to Kill Bonaparte, and 
Being prevented in the Act, freely Stated his Motives, and quietly 
Encountered death. the Concerns of the Roman church you don’t 
much mind—the only eCect of a Mitigated But Real Excommunica-
tion of the Emperor Has Hitherto Been to Have the pope driven 
about as a prisoner and to drive the aCrighted Cardinals into Volon-
tary Attendance at the Imperial Chapel—the Roads to paris are Cov-
ered with Kings and princes who Come to pay their Court and 
Receive orders for the Confederacy of the Rhine and other depen-
dances on the Superior Throne. I Had Rather they were popular dep-
uties to a General federation of Liberty and Equality—But I Cannot 
Help observing what Has Been the prodigious inBuence of that Rev-
olutionary Movement, altho’ Misguided on the way, and of the En-
thusiasm and talents of which an Aristocratical Monarchy Should 
Ever Have prevented the display—it is Now Said Among the most 
thinking part of Germany and elsewhere that their only way to Rees-
tablish a political Equilibrium is to discard the Ancient institutions 
and to Recur to what they Call an Equilibrium of principles, or An 
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Equilibre de lumières, all Expressions which, to Be Sure, do not 
apply to Our Retrogade Oscillation towards absolute monarchy and 
Hereditary privileges. 

of American ACairs with Respect to Europe what Shall I Say? the 
Conduct of Great Britain Has Been and Continues to Be insolent, 
Spiteful, and Uncandid—there the United States Have to Encounter 
not only a General principle of Maritime Ambition and despotism, 
But a particular Remembering, Anticipating National Jealousy—in 
france where the people at large and even the members of Govern-
ment would Like to improve the Circumstance into a Vindication of 
Neutral Rights, and a more intimate intercourse with America, the 
Mistaken, Unaccountable, and Axed policy of the Emperor Has an 
eCect quite the Reverse of what Common Justice, National interest, 
and His own Hatred to England ought to dictate—I am So Sensible 
of that plain truth that I Every day Hope His great powers of Sagac-
ity and Calculation will at Last discover that in his plan to Bring 
about Great Britain He Has taken the wrong End. 

I Have No News from Louïsiana—No titles or documents Have 
Come to Hand which Has Hitherto BaEed Every Attempt to Liber-
ate my fortune—the greater part of My debt is increasing in a Ru-
inous Manner By Additional interest—the Exigible part is dreadfully 
pressing, and Nothing But personal Benevolence Can Have Hitherto 
Parried the ill Consequences of delay—I would More Severely Blame 
Myself for Hopes too Sanguine Had I Not Some Excuse in the Rec-
ollection of Letters Received and writen at Very Ancient and Succes-
sive dates which show that Unfortunate chances only, independant of 
My friends and myself, Could Have Left me in this state of disap-
pointment and danger—Since their Early and incessant kindness, 
and the Bounty of Congress, Have, in the Most Moderate of their Ex-
pectations, Given me Superabundant Relief. 

When I See the immense weight which Has Been Accumulating 
upon me I feel Uneasy about Your own opinion, However partial I 
know it to Be, with Respect to My pecuniary Conduct—this Encour-
ages me to Have Copied for You, altho’ it is interwoven with Some 
Complimentary Expressions, the observations on My Monney’d Vi-
cissitudes which I now inclose—there You will See that, altho’ I May 
Be not Exempt of Blame, my Situation is not So far past Apology as 
Might Be Supposed—there, while You are pleased to think to whom 
I owe it is Not past Recovery, You will also See the Necessity to Urge 
the Compliment of an Enterprise So friendly and So Momentous. 
The Vessel Being Ready for Sea I will not this time write to the pres-
ident, Mr Gallatin, nor Mr duplantier whom I Have By the Last Op-
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portunity adressed on the Same Subject—to You, My dear friend, I 
Refer Myself for doing, Saying, and writing What You think At—M. 
LaBouchere of Amsterdam Has kindly Undertaken a New Attempt 
to Consolidate into a General Loan the totality of the Sum I owe—the 
absence of titles, want of documents, and the increasing inconve-
niences of Unexplained delays Cannot fail to inBuence the Conditions 
and May, as on former Occasions, totally defeat the plan of A Relief 
the Last part of it Has Become indispensably Urging—I Can Hardly 
trust Myself to think, and am Ashamed to write, Even to You, that 
Such an Enormous Sum as that Capital and those Accumulated inter-
ests Have Been once more forced into my pecuniary Calculations— 
But When My fortune is Cleared I am only to follow the Œconomical 
Line in which I Have now and forever ConAned Myself. 

After What I Have Said, and knowing what I feel, it would Be Su-
perBuous to Mention My ConAdence in You—yet altho’ there is 
Nothing New I And a great pleasure in the Expression of the ACec-
tion and regard Which forever devote to You 

Your friend Lafayette 

M

M. et mde de tessé are in pretty Good Health—My children Beg their 
Best Respects Being oCered to You—present me most Respectfully to 

rs Randolph, and Mention me to our friends not forgetting mr 
Coles. 

RC (DLC); addressed: “to Mr JeCer- assassinate Napoleon on 23 Oct. 1809 
son”; endorsed by TJ as received 17 June (Chandler, Campaigns of Napoleon, 
1810 and so recorded in SJL. FC (DLC: 736; Felix Markham, Napoleon [1963], 
Lafayette Papers, La Grange microAlm). 183–4). Pope Pius VII’s excommunica-
Tr (DLC). Enclosed in James Madison to tion of Napoleon, prompted by the lat-
TJ, 15 June 1810. ter’s annexation of the Italian Papal 

States in May 1809, was mitigated in 
John Pitt, 2d Earl of Chatham, com- that it did not mention the French em-

manded the unsuccessful british expe- peror by name. This prudence did not 
dition to Walcheren (ODNB; Lafayette save the pontiC from house arrest at 
to TJ, 16 Sept. 1809). The emperor of Savona on the Riviera soon thereafter 
austria ceded various Alpine, Tyrolean, (Markham, Napoleon, 151–2). equili-

and Illyrian lands to France and its trib- bre de lumières: equilibrium of un-
utaries under the 14 Oct. 1809 Treaty derstanding, or enlightenment. Lafayette 
of Schönbrunn (Connelly, Napoleonic wrote Madison about his pecuniary sit-
France, 437). Frederick Staps was the uation on 26 Oct. 1809 (Madison, Pa-
young man of eighteen who tried to pers, Pres. Ser., 2:38–9). 
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e n c l o s u r e  

Lafayette’s Description of his Finances 

Compte rendu Sur la fortune du Gal 

Lafayette a diCerentes epoques de sa vie 

Les trois premieres époques dont nous allons faire mention Sont litterale-
ment copiées d’un Etat donné par M. Gratepain Morizot Ancien Avocat au 
Parlement de Paris et actuellement membre du Corps Legislatif; il fut chargé 
des aCaires du Gal Lafayette jusqu’en 1792. et obligé d’en rendre un compte 
rigoureux à la Commune de Paris du 10. Aoust de cette année. l’Etat suivant 
jusqu’en 1792. est pris sur l’original ecrit de la main de M. Gratepain Mori-
zot; nous n’en retrancherons pas même les observations qu’il a jugé à propos 
d’y ajouter. 

Etât de ce qu’ont coûté à Mr De Lafayette q

les Révolutions Américaine et française 

Ire Pour procéder avec ordre et clarté, il faut commencer par etablir 
Epoque sa position en 1777. au moment de son premier Embarquement 

Ses Revenus etaient: 
Rentes sur les Etats de Bretagne, le clergé, la 
compagnie des Indes et sur Mrs De La tremoille, 
de Montmorin & autres 
Dot de Made De La Fayette 

16,000.μ 
9 000. 

Loyers de l’hôtel de La Marck 9,000. 
Terres D’auvergne 15,000. 

De Bretagne 60,000. 
De Touraine 13 000. 

Et Succession de M. de La Riviere Ayeul tant en 
terres qu’en rentes 24 000. 
Total net, cest à dire toutes impositions prélevées 146,000.μ 

Ses charges annuelles consistaient 
A Made de La Marck 6000

Rentes viagères à l’Abbé fayon et autres 4000. 
Pension Alimentaire à l’hotel de Noailles


M
depenses de toute la maison y compris 

8000. 
ç 

96,000.

r de Lafayette pour mille Louis et 


Madame pour 10000.μ
 78000. 
Restait de libre 50,000.μ 

De 1777 à 1783. ce qui fait six ans, cet excédent de 50000.μ 
a déjà fait cent mille Ecus cy 300 000.μ 

Ensuite il a fallu vendre les terres: 
De Latouche près Malestroit 73 000. 
De Ploeuc près Quintin 150 000. 
Du Pelinet près Guingamp 120 000. 
De Lisle Aval, Du Vaucouronné, de la ville dorée 

Beaumanoir près S. Brieux 121,000. 
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Emprunter de Made D’Esclignac 145 000. 
Et recevoir au clergé des remboursements pr 

124 000. 
Partant la révolution Américaine semblerait avoir couté 1,033,000.μ 

Mais comme pendant Sa durée le Gal Lafayette est revenu deux fois en 
Europe et que nécessairement il a du dépenser au delà des 96,000μ relatés 
cy dessus il ne serait pas équitable d’attribuer la totalité de ce million. 33. 
mille Livres à des objets d’utilité réelle et publique; ainsi, en retranchant ce 
qui peut etre etranger au but qu’on Se propose et en faisant même justice du 
trop de MagniAcence il est convenable de dire qu’à la rigueur on aurait pu 
rendre les mêmes services sans que les frais s’elevassent à plus de 700. mille 
francs. 

Les 733 mille Livres de la vente des terres ont diminué les revenus de 
28000.μ; En 1783. ils n’etaient donc plus que de 118000.μ 

2
e De 1783. à l’instant de la Révolution française les revenus ont 

Epoquer été diminués de 10. mille Livres par la vente des Terres de K. 
Guillay, De la Vasseliere en Bretagne. 

Et pour expliquer cette diminution on Se rappellera que M. de 
Lafayette At dans l’intervalle des deux revolutions des voyages en 
Amerique et en Allemagne, que les aCaires Bataves, celles des 
protestants en france, les événemens préliminaires à la révolution 
française furent l’occasion de quelques dépenses et que l’achat 
d’une habitation à Cayenne pour un Essai de l’aCranchissement 
graduel des Noirs lui occasionna un déboursé de plus de 
120,000.μ 

Tous ces articles réunis auraient dû emporter une bien plus 
forte diminution de Capital; mais il a été pourvu à l’excédent de 
dépenses par des ventes de bois et par des opérations de féages. 

De la Sorte, les revenus au 1er Juillet 1789. etaient encore de 
108,000.μ 

Cette Somme n’etant que pour faire face aux dépenses annuelles 
et ordinaires, on ne va parler que des objets dont les suites de la 
Revolution ont necessité la vente. 

Terres de K Martin, de K Garric et du Pont blanc 
près Tréguier 176 000. 

De S. Eloy de Crapado près Moncontour 68 000. 
Remboursemens de rentes foncieres en Bretagne 72 000. 
Vente de Reignac et dépendances en Touraine 370 000. 
Emprunts: de Mr de Luzignem 120 000. 

de Made de Narbonne 70 000. 
Et de Mr Lobinhes 20 000. 

Le prix de la Vaisselle portée à la monnaye 24 000. 
Total 

Sur cela il faut déduire le prix de Langeac de 
920,000.μ 
170 000. 

Reste pour dépenses uniquement relatives à la 
Révolution française 750 000.μ 

Na On ne parle point de la vente de l’hotel de Lamarck 
parceque le prix en est representé par la maison rue de Lille. 
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La vente des Terres designées dans cette 2e Epoque et les in-
térêts des Capitaux empruntés et non rendus ont diminué les 
revenus de 33. mille Livres: 

3
e Epoque D’après le resultat de la 2de Epoque les revenus ne devaient plus 

10. aoust subsister que pour 75,000.μ au 10. aoust 1792. mais par les aug-
mentations successives pendant les dix ans qui ont précédé et non 1792	
obstant la Suppression de tous les droits feodaux, le fait est, qu’à 
ce jour 10. aoust 1792. Ces revenus s’elevaient encore à 80,000.μ 
comme cela a été démontré par l’Etat Général remis en Janvier 
1793. aux chefs du Bureau des Emigrés du Départemt de la Seine 
et dont voici l’analyse. 

Moitié dans les Terres d’Azay, la folaine, Chevigny 
fontenay, Armançay et le Breuil en Touraine 10 000.μ 
Terres de K au frait, S. Michel, Lariviere 24 000. 

du vieux marché, le Parc et Ledresnay 5 500. 
De S. Quihöet et Duplessix 12 000. 
de Chavaniac, Vissac Lafayette, 
Langeac et Clavieres 18,000

Et Rentes à Paris sur la nation et Sur particuliers 10 500. 
Somme pareille 80 000. 

Il est vrai que ces 80,000μ etaient grevées de 13,200μ d’in-
terets envers Mrs de Luzignem de Narbonne, Lobinhes et de Nau-
caze; mais comme la nation qui s’est emparée de tous les biens n’a 
guères payé que les 78,000μ duës à M. de Naucaze pour le prix de 
Clavières il est de toute Vérité que ce qui lui est resté Se porte en-
core à plus de 76,000μ de rente dont voici l’evaluation. 

Les 65,500.μ restant des immeubles font au 
denier 30

et les 10500.μ de rentes au denier 20. font 
1,965,000μ 

Outre ce, il etait echu au 10. aoust 1792. tant 
210,000 

en fermages, arrerages de rentes que pour bois 112 910. 

L’hotel qu’avait Mr de Lafayette rue de Lille a été 
acheté par lui 200,000.μ il en a dépensé au moins 
50. mille pour des additions et aisances et le mo-
bilier qui le garnissait valait bien aussi 50000.μ 

Cet eCet dont la nation s’est egalement emparée 
tenait donc lieu à Mr de Lafayette de 300,000.μ
mais comme elle a remboursé à Made De Lafayette 

s 

sa dot de 200000μ il convient les déduire sur les 
300. encore qu’ils ne lui aient presque rien rendu; 
et de la sorte il ne restera que cent mille Livres à 
tirer hors ligne 100 000. 

Partant la conAscation a encore enveloppé 2,387,910. 

Il y a si peu d’exagération dans ces calculs qu’il Serait facile d’en aug-
menter le total en Scrutant davantage, et en preuve, on peut rappeller l’in-
demnité de plus de 50. mille Ecus que l’Etat devait encore à Mr De Lafayette 
pour le quart d’une forêt appellée le Bois-grand, accordée par charles VII au 
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Maréchal de Lafayette en reconnaissance de ses bons Services contre les 
Anglais, Quart que depuis, la Maitrise d’Ambert avait repris 

Observations (a) 

Si l’on demandait en quoi et comment l’amour de la Liberte a pu couter 
Quinze cent mille francs à M. de Lafayette il Serait aisé de répondre. 

Que l’achat du navire La Victoire à Bordeaux et les eCets embarqués nom-
mément à Son Second voyage tels que Sabres, Epées, pistolets, Ceintures, 
Dragonnes Epaulettes, galons Tentes, draps et Selles ont absorbé plus de 
350,000.μ et que pareille Somme a été Consommée par les Lettres de change 
tirées d’Amérique au proAt de MM. Kalb, Beaumarchais, Bauluy, Ray de 
chaumont le Coulteux &a et qu’au désintéressement de M. de Lafayette et aux 
dépenses de toutes espéces pendant trois ans qu’il a commandé lau garde na-
tionale et qu’il a eu une Si grande existence, on ne peut S’etonner que la Rev-
olution française lui ait emporté les 750,000.μ etablies dans la 2de Epoque de 
ce tableau. 

Ici Anit le compte rendu de M. Morizot; il aurait pu ajouter quelques ob-
servations qui concourent à expliquer la dépense totale dont il est ici ques-
tion. Le bâtiment que M. de Lafayette avait acheté en france et qui avait 
transporté Sa personne, les oDciers envoyés par les Commissaires Améri-
cains, les Caisses d’armes prises à Bayonne &a périt au retour avant qu’on eut 
le tems de le faire assurer, ce qui At une diCérence de cent mille francs. 
Le transport des eCets cy dessus annoncés, tant ceux destinés par lui aux 
troupes que les autres se At toujours à grands fraix quelquefois en poste pour 
tromper l’ennemi; les Voyages depuis celui de Charlestown par terre avec 
tous les oDciers qu’on lui avait donnés, jusqu’à ceux d’Espagne et au dernier 
d’Amerique couterent beaucoup, Ce qui, joint à toutes les autres consider-
ations rend moins extraordinaire une dépense dans laquelle le Gal Lafayette 
ne voulut laisser entrer pour rien le Gouvernement Américain ni le Gou-
vernement français. Quant à celles de la révolution française les personnes 
qui ont été à portée de Suivre ce grand mouvement et d’apprécier les 
dépenses du Gal Lafayette n’en Seront pas etonnées. 

Il n’en résulte pas moins qu’en vendant pour 10,000.μ de rentes en terres 
il aurait pu anéantir les charges ci dessus indiquées, il lui Serait resté alors 
70,000.μ de revenu et une maison de cent mille Ecus. La dot dont il n’avait 
touché que 200,000.μ devait produire beaucoup plus. On pensait qu’elle rap-
porterait déAnitivement un million. Il est donc vrai que le Gal Lafayette après 
de grands SacriAces avait encore une fortune bien suDsante, et que ses en-
fans, sans compter les Successions eventuelles etaient appellés à un bon 
héritage patrimonial, on devait à Mr de Lafayette plus de cent mille francs. 

Mais dans les tems de proscription Son bien fut dilapidé et vendu; la dette 
n’a été diminuée que de 78000μ de Mr de Naucaze remboursées par sa liqui-
dation et par ce qu’on a recouvré de la terre de Clavières. Mais comme les 
revenus arrierés montant à 112,000.μ furent Saisis partout, sa famille Se 
trouva débitrice de plus de 80,000.μ employées en réparations d’Etablisse-
ment à Chavaniac en dépenses Courantes &a Et comme tous ses equipages de 

(a) La partie du Compte et des observations qui est de Mr Morizot a été litteralement 
Copiée Sans changer un mott 
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guerre nouvellement faits furent pillés à l’arrivée de Dumouriez il y eut encore 
une perte de quarante mille francs, ajoutez y environ vingt mille francs qu’il 
prit avec lui, Seule ressource de Ses compagnons de départ, et l’on trouvera au 
moment de la proscription une dette inattendue de plus de 300,000.μv

Il est vrai que M. Governeur Moriss voulut bien quelque 
tems après prêter cent mille francs en Assignats qui, à l’echelle 
de dépréciation ont été réduits de maniere à produire à l’e-
poque du payement y compris les intérêts à 5. p% une Somme 
de 68,000.μ que nous compterons plus bas; mais en ne met-
tant rien pour la subsistance de sa famille et les dépenses aux-
quelles on fut obligé dans cet etat de persécution, Le voyage 
de M. George Washington Lafayette en Amérique, celui du 
reste de la famille jusqu’à hambourg &a on voit que cette 
généreuse avance de M. Moriss a trouvé dans les objets ci 
dessus indiqués une espèce de compensation. Il est impossible 
d’avoir des comptes exacts de ces tems de confusion où toutes 
les personnes etaient en danger, où tous les documents ont été 
brulés; on conçoit cependant que, sans parler de dépenses en 
païs etranger, la dette antérieure à la proscription se Soit trou-
vée au moins de 

G

Les dépenses occasionnées par la captivité ont été enormes; 
320,000.μ 

les prisonniers sont restés à leurs fraix, c’est à dire aux fraix du 
al Lafayette qui seul avait quelqu’argent, tant qu’on a pu en 

tirer d’eux. Mais ce n’etait qu’un petit objet en comparaison 
de tout ce que ses amis dans toute l’Europe ont prodigué de 
moyens pécuniaires pour sauver sa vie, pour correspondre 
avec lui, pour faciliter son evasion. Quelques uns ont fait de 
grands sacriAces personels, les Sommes généreusement en-
voyées par le Gouvernement Américain y ont été englouties. 
La famille du Gal Lafayette à Ollmütz vivait à ses propres 
fraix. De maniere qu’en arrivant à hambourg après cinq an-
nées de prison il n’a rien retrouvé de ce qui lui etait destiné et 
Seulement un accroissement de dette à M. Governor Moriss 
jusqu’à l’epoque où il a été payé 68000.μ; à Mr Parish ancien 
Consul des Etats Unis, Quarante trois mille Livres; à M. Boll-
man un Contract réduit à 30000.μ 141 000. 

Vingt quatre mille francs envoyés par M. King, pareille 
Somme léguée par Mrs Edwards, dame Anglaise, ont Servi à 
Soutenir le Gal Lafayette, sa famille, à aider quelques amis pro-
scrits tant en holstein qu’en hollande et à payer des voyages de 
Sa famille en france pour recouvrer les débris de Sa fortune, 
jusqu’à l’epoque de son retour en l’an 8. quelques mois avant 
l’année 1800. 

Alors Mr de Luzignem Son Créancier pour 100,000.μ s’est 
461,000.μ 

Contenté d’un payement en terres. Made de Narbonne a Con-
senti à un remboursement d’une dette de 40,000.μ pour 
moitié de cette somme argent Comptant. On a trouvé dans les 
papiers du Gal Greene une note de 24,000.μ dus à Son ami, 
mais d’un autre côté le Gal Lafayette a été obligé de faire un 
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payement de 20,000μ pour un domaine près de Lafayette qu’il 
allait Solder avec une vente en Bretagne; la Saisis de l’une et 
de l’autre propriété ne lui a laissé que la dette; les intérêts qui 
avaient courru pour toutes Ses dettes n’ont pas tous été exigés, 
mais il en a fallu acquitter une grande partie, tandis qu’il n’a 
pu etre payé que d’une Seule dette de la succession de M. de 
Montmorin; EnAn beaucoup de personnes pour lesquelles 
Soit par amitié particuliere Soit dans le mouvement de la 
Révolution il avait répondu ayant péri ou Se trouvant insolv-
ables, toutes ces demandes sont revenues tomber sur lui on 
conçoit donc qu’avant de rentrer dans aucune partie de Ses 
biens, le Gal Lafayette Se Soit trouvé par une Sorte de fatalité 
endetté de près de 400,000.μ ne mettons que 

Quant aux cent mille francs et plus qu’on lui devait encore, 
la famille SuCrein 40,000μ la famille Latremoille 20,000μ M. 
de Canillac 15,000.μ Mrs Dulac 10,000μ &a c’etaient toutes 
personnes ruînées et détruites de maniere que tout cela est 
resté pr mémoire. 

M. de Lafayette a retrouvé en Auvergne et en Bretagne, non 
Sans quelques SacriAces 9000.μ de rentes; l’heritage de sa 
belle-mere partagé seize mois après Son retour etait réduit à 
un bien estimé Cent mille ecus, mais ne rapportant que huït 
mille francs de revenu net de fermage, la maison et les bois en-
trant dans cette estimation pour 54,000.μ Il y avait quelques 
charges annuelles 23,000.μ de Soulte et compensation et 
42,000.μ pour Sa part de réparations de fermes. La maison 
dont les murs seuls etaient Solides avait besoin que tout l’in-
térieur fut remis à neuf: M. de Lafayette n’a retrouvé pour lui 
ni pour sa famille ni meubles ni linge, ni rien de ce qui con-
stitue un Etablissement; il a été obligé de tout acheter. 

Il est vrai que le Gouvernement voulant garder une propri-
eté de GiroBiers à Cayenne qui avait acquis depuis douxe ans 
une grande valeur et dont on lui oCrait au premier mot Trois 
cent mille francs l’a achetée 140,000. nous mettrons cette 
somme en compensation pour tous les frais d’etablissement et 
les réparations cy dessus indiqués. 

C’est dans cette Situation que le Gal Lafayette apprit que le 
Congrès des Etats Unis voulait bien S’occuper du rétablisse-
ment de sa fortune et qu’au lieu de vendre ce qui lui restait de 
propriétés il pourrait le donner à ses Enfans et former à La-
grange un Etablissement pour lui et sa famille, il y fut d’autant 
plus encouragé que bientôt au lieu des terres militaires sur l’O-
hio, le Congrès eut la bonté de placer le don sur les meilleures 
terres de Louisiane dont une partie touchait à la Nouvelle Or-
léans: tous les renseignements qu’il reçut Sur ce magniAque 
présent Se reunissaient à lui donner une immense valeur et 
l’assurer qu’aucun intérêt d’emprunt ne pouvait egaler l’ac-
croissement annuel du prix de cette Superbe propriété. 

Le premier eCet fut de se libérer des 23,000.μ de Soulte 
avancés par son Beau frere M. de Grammont, de 17. autres 
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mille francs qu’il lui devait pour une compensation et pour ar-
gent fourni à Made Sa Tante dans les tems orageux. En plaçant 
cette dette de 40,000.μ sur les Terrains de Louisiane 

Il donna à ses trois enfans par contrat de Mariage ce qu’il 
avait recouvré de bien; trois mille Livres de rentes pour 
chacun et S’occupa de donner plus de valeur à l’heritage de 
sa belle mere que Made sa Alle et lui se reservaient pendant 
leur vie. 

Les améliorations agricoles qu’il y a faites sont un objet de 
40,000.μ; il a fallu plus de 20,000μ d’achats pour se former 
un arrondissement de culture. Son capital d’exploitation lui a 
couté 30,000.μ Total. 

Mais aussi au lieu d’un fermage de 8000μ sur lequel il a 
90,000. 

cédé 2400. de fermage pour payer les charges et qui, par con-
séquent serait réduit à 5600.μ il retire déjà de 12 à 13000.μ 
de sa ferme et la portera plus haut, Encore en a-t-il retiré une 
portion qu’il a mise en bois, ce qui a augmenté ses dépenses 
d’amélioration de plus de 10,000. 

Nous trouverons donc dans cet apperçu un capital de 480,000μ 
Le Gal Lafayette a marié ses trois enfans, il a eprouvé un ac-

cident qui a nécessité des voyages, d’autres l’ont été par des 
devoirs sacrés. Son revenu dans les premieres années de son 
retour a été très insuDsant. 
Mettons pour tous ces objets. 40,000. 

520,000μ 
Voilà donc, sans entrer dans des details aussi exacts que M. Morizot, l’ex-

plication d’un capital à liquider d’environ Cent mille dollars. 
Mais s’il est vrai que dans les premiers tems la fortune du Gal Lafayette eut 

pu etre liquidée avec cent mille Dollars, on ne doit pas perdre de vue, que les 
intérêts de la plupart des capitaux augmentaient annuellement Sa dette; 
Cependant il s’est tenu long tems à ne parler que de cette Somme parce qu’il 
etait toujours question de lui composer avec une partie des ventes un revenu 
dont il aurait destiné une portion à payer les intérêts de l’accroissement de 
Capital tel qu’il Serait à l’epoque où l’operation de Louisiane Serait terminée; 
les Lettres qu’il recevait lui donnant toute assurance que l’augmentation an-
nuelle de la valeur de ces terres qui lui resteraient aurait bientot comblé cette 
diCérence. 

Plusieurs années s’etant depuis ecoulées, la diCerence est devenue enorme, 
et les intérêts accumulés de ses dettes, les sacriAces ruîneux qu’il a fallu faire 
en attendant journellement les nouvelles des Etats Unis qu’il avait lieu d’e-
spérer ont prodigieusemt augmenté cette Somme. M.w Baring et M. Parker 
lui ont avancé des fonds à 5. p%, les autes ont couté 10. et 12., mettons 8 p%. 
de prix moyen, il suDt de Cinq ans pour augmenter cette Somme de plus de 
200,000.μ Sans compter les intérêts des intérêts; Six ans la porteraient à 
plus de 250,000.μ il est vrai que les dépenses ajoutées au Capital des dettes 
qu’il a trouvées ont été Successives. 

Le malheur qu’a eprouvé le Gal Lafayette a nécessité des arrangements de 
famille faits à l’amiable mais toujours Couteux, Sans compter le SacriAce de 
2400.μ de revenu du fermage etranger à son exploitation et destiné à payer 
des charges de succession. 
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On voit qu’en même tems que la muniAcence du Congrès l’a tiré lui et sa 
famille d’une ruine certaine et non méritée, il est d’une grande urgence que 
les ressources qui lui ont été Si généreusement oCertes et Si amicalement an-
noncées se réalisent bientôt du moins jusqu’a la concurrence de la complette 
liquidation de sa fortune. 

D’après ce Compte rendu, dont la premiere partie est un Etat très exact 
donné par M. Morizot et l’autre un apperçu SuDsant pour juger la Situation 
du Gal Lafayette; les dépenses de même nature quoique successives ayant été 
mises ensemble, on peut Se faire une idée des Sommes qu’il aurait fallu dès 
la premiere année du don de la Louisiane, de celles qu’il faudrait à présent et 
de l’urgence qu’il y a de ne pas perdre de tems pour la Liquidation de Ses 
dettes. La Correspondance Américaine toute interrompue qu’elle a été par les 
diDcultés politiques lui a donné l’assurance d’une fortune non Seulement 
égale à cette liquidation mais devant oCrir un excédent considérable pour sa 
famille; c’est dans cette conAance que Supposant Sa fortune liquidée par un 
arrangement Sur les terres de Louisiane, et laissant l’excédent pour les dots 
futures de ses petits enfans, nous chercherons ce qui lui resterait de revenu 
pour vivre à Lagrange. 

Par l’arrangement de famille fait entre le gal Lafayette et Ses trois enfans il 
s’est chargé de payer tous les capitaux de dettes Communes qui entrent dans 
le Compte des engagements à Solder sur la Louisiane. 

Il a reconnu leur droit aux 3000.μ de Rentes pour chacun en tout, 9000.μ 
de Biens en Auvergne & en Bretagne qui leur etaient assurés par contrat de 
Mariage, neuf cent francs de rentes en Bretagne: deux mille quatre cent 
francs de fermes de Brie sur la Succession de sa belle mere ont été abandon-
nés à ses enfans pour acquitter annuellement les charges de charité et pen-
sions léguées par les personnes qu’ils ont eu le malheur de perdre. 

Le Gal Lafayette a reconnu à Ses enfans la propriété du reste du domaine 
de Lagrange, mais S’en est reservé l’usufruit. Ce domaine Consiste. 

1° En bois tellement augmentés en valeur que dès à présent et Sans compter 
une jeune futaye de 26. arpents ils rapportent près de mille ecus de rentes et 
SuDsent malgré la cherté de ce Combustible non seulement à tous les besoins 
de chauCage de la famille, mais à quelques autres petites dépenses. 

2° En une maison, qui, d’après les dépenses cy dessus désignées est à 
présent en bon Etat et SuDsament meublée pour lui, Ses trois enfans, sa 
belle Alle, Ses deux gendres et Sept petits Enfans, faisant en tout quatorze 
personnes. 

3° En une Exploitation de ferme qui lui rapportera l’année prochaine, tous 
fraix faits, douze à treize mille francs de revenu net et augmentera en valeur 
dans les années Suivantes. 

4° Á ce revenu Territorial il faut joindre la Solde de retraite düe à son 
grade de Général, qui est de six mille francs moins une legere retenue. 

Il s’ensuit qu’en supposant toutes les dettes payées par les terres que le 
Congrès a eu la muniAcence de lui donner en Louisiane, chacun des enfans 
de M. de Lafayette ayant de lui 3000.μ de rente, toute sa famille etant logée 
et chauCée chez lui, il aurait un revenu de dix huit mille Livres de rentes qui 
Sera porté Successivement à 20,000.μ 

C’est ainsi que la faveur des Etats Unis l’aurait tiré d’une Situation en 
apparence désespérée pour lui assurer la possession d’un revenu rigoureuse-
ment SuDsant, qu’une très petite augmentation prise dans ses arrangements 
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de Louisiane rendrait Complet et l’expectative d’un grand avantage futur 
pour ses enfans, lors même qu’il Serait obligé, pour liquider Sa fortune, d’a-
bandonner aux prêteurs la moitié des accroissements de valeur qui auront 
lieu d’ici à 10. ans. 

N.B. Depuis la rédaction de cet ecrit, les renseignements arrivés de 
Louisiane sur le gage de l’Emprunt désiré Sont tellement Satisfaisants, qu’il 
parait qu’un intérêt de 10. p.%. S’accumulant avec le principal, le tout païable 
de cinq à dix ans et hypothéqué Sur le terrain près de la ville, devrait oCrir 
aux preteurs un avantage SuDsant et toute la sécurité nécessaire. 

e d i t o r s’  t r a n s l a t i o n  

Review of General Lafayette’s wealth during various periods of his life 

The Arst three periods we are going to mention are literally copied from a 
statement given by Mr. Gratepain Morizot, former counsel to the Parlement 
of Paris and currently a member of the Corps Legislatif; he was in charge of 
General Lafayette’s aCairs until 1792, and he was obliged to give a rigorous 
account of them to the Paris Commune on 10 August of that year. The fol-
lowing statement is taken from the original document written in Mr. 
Gratepain Morizot’s hand; we will not even remove the observations he 
deemed appropriate to add to it. 

Statement of what the French and American revolutions cost 
Mr. de Lafayette. 

1st In order to proceed with order and clarity, it is necessary to start by 
Period establishing his position in 1777 at the time of his Arst departure. 

His revenues were: 
Income from the estates in Brittany, the clergy, the Indies 
company and from Messrs. de La Tremoille, de 
Montmorin & others 
Dowry from Madame de Lafayette 
Rent from the hôtel de La Marck 
Lands in Auvergne 

in Brittany 

in Touraine 


And his inheritance from Mr. de La Riviere the elder 
in land as well as in annuities 
Net total, that is to say all taxes taken out 

His annual charges consisted of 
To Madame de La Marck 6000

Life annuities to the Abbé Fayon and others 4000. 
Maintenance of the hôtel de Noailles 8000. 
Household expenses, including one 

ç

thousand for Mr. de Lafayette; 
for Louis and Madame 10000.μ 78000. 

Funds remaining available 
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During the six years between 1777 and 1783, these surpluses 
of 50,000.μ added up to one hundred thousand écus, or 
Then, it was necessary to sell the following lands: 

300 000.μ 

Latouche near Malestroit 73 000. 
Plouec near Quintin 150 000. 
Pelinet near Guingamp 120 000. 
Lisle Aval, Vaucouronné, La ville dorée Beaumanoir 
near St. Brieuc 121,000. 
To borrow from Madame D’Esclignac 145 000. 
And to receive reimbursements from the clergy: 124 000. 
Therefore the American Revolution would seem 


to have cost 
 1,033,000.μ 

But as during this period General Lafayette returned to Europe on two 
occasions and as he necessarily had to spend more than the 96,000μ men-
tioned above, it would not be fair to attribute the whole of this one million 33 
thousand livres to objects of real and public utility; thus, by deducting what 
could be considered foreign to the proposed goal, and even while doing jus-
tice to the excesses of magniAcence, it is appropriate to say that the same ser-
vices might have been rendered without their cost exceeding 700 thousand 
francs. 

The 733 thousand Livres from the sale of the lands diminished his income 
by 28000.μ Therefore in 1783 it was only 118000.μ 

2d From 1783 until the outbreak of the French Revolution, his in-
Period come fell an additional 10 thousand livres through the sale of the 

lands of K. Guillay, De la Vasseliere in Brittany. 
And to explain this decrease one should recall that Mr. de 

Lafayette visited America and Germany in the interval between 
the two revolutions, that the aCairs of the Batavians and of 
the Protestants in France and the events prior to the French 
Revolution caused a few expenses, and that the purchase of a res-
idence in Cayenne in an attempt to gradually emancipate African 
slaves caused a disbursement of more than 120,000.μ 

All of these expenditures put together should have led to a 
much greater decrease in his capital; but the excess expenses were 
oCset by the sale of wood and the collection of tolls. 

Thus, his income as of 1 July 1789 was still 108,000.μ 
This sum being earmarked for ordinary and annual expenses, 

we are only going to discuss items that had to be sold as a result 
of the Revolution. 

Lands of K Martin, of K Garric and of Pont Blanc 
near Tréguier 176 000. 

S. Eloy de Crapado near Moncontour 68 000. 
Repayment of farm income in Brittany 72 000. 
Sale of Reignac and outbuildings in Touraine 370 000. 
Borrowing: from Mr. de Luzignem 120 000. 

from Madame de Narbonne 70 000. 
and from Mr. Lobinhes 20 000. 
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The value of china crockery converted into money 24 000. 
Total 

From this must be deducted the price of Langeac 
920,000.μ 
170 000. 

Remaining expenses exclusively related to the 
French Revolution 750 000.μ  

Note. We are not mentioning the sale of the hôtel de La Marck 
because its price is included with that of the house on the Rue de 
Lille. 

The sale of lands and the interest on capital borrowed and not 
paid back during this second period decreased his income by 33

thousand livres: 

3d Period As a result, the remaining income should only have added up to 
75,000.μ on 10 August 1792. But because of the successive in-

August creases of the preceding ten years and notwithstanding the aboli-
tion of all feudal rights, the fact is, that on 10 August 1792 his1792 

income still added up to 80,000μ, as was demonstrated by the 
general statement delivered in January 1793 to the heads of the 
Bureau des Emigrés of the Departement de la Seine and here is 
the analysis of it. 

Half of the lands of Azay, la folaine, Chevigny 
fontenay, Armançay and le Breuil in Touraine 10 000.μ 
Lands of K au frait, S. Michel, Lariviere 24 000. 

of the old market, le Parc and Ledresnay 5 500. 
of S. Quihöet and Duplessix 12 000. 
of Chavaniac, Vissac Lafayette, Langeac and 

Clavières 18,000

And annuities in Paris from the nation and 

individuals 
 10 500. 

Sum equals 80 000. 
It is true that these 80,000μ were burdened with 13,200μ of in-

terest owed to Messrs. de Luzignem, de Narbonne, Lobinhes and 
de Naucaze; but as the nation that seized all his property barely 
paid the 78,000μ owed Mr. de Naucaze for Clavières, it is ab-
solutely true that what was left to him still adds up to 76,000μ of 
income and here is the evaluation. 

The 65,500.μ remaining from the real estate, 
over thirty years adds up to 
and the annuities totaling 10500.μ over twenty 

1,965,000μ 

years add up to 
Moreover, on 10 August 1792 farm rents, as 

210,000 

well as back interest on annuities and wood fell due 112 910. 

The hôtel owned by Mr. de Lafayette on the Rue 
de Lille was bought by him for 200,000μ; he spent 
at least 50 thousand on additions and conveniences, 
and the furniture in it was well worth 50000.μ 

This hôtel, which was also seized by the nation, 
was thus worth 300,000.μ to Mr. de Lafayette, but 
as the nation reimbursed Madame de Lafayette her 
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dowry of 200000μ, it is appropriate to deduct this 
sum from the 300 even though it brought him al-
most nothing; and in this way there remains only 
one hundred thousand livres on this line 100 000. 

Consequently, the conAscation included another 2,387,910. 

There is so little exaggeration in these calculations that it would be easy 
to increase the total by scrutinizing further, and as proof of this, we can 
recall the indemnity of more than 50 thousand écus that France still owed 
Mr. de Lafayette for a quarter of a forest called the Bois-Grand, granted by 
Charles VII to Marshal de Lafayette in acknowledgment of his valuable 
service against the English, a tract that since then, the Maitrise d’Ambert 
has taken back 

Observations (a) 

If one were to ask Mr. de Lafayette how the love of Liberty could have cost 
one and a half million francs, it would be easy for him to answer. 

That the purchase of the ship La Victoire at Bordeaux and the belong-
ings loaded on his second voyage such as sabers, swords, pistols, belts, 
sword straps, military braid, tents, sheets and saddles absorbed more than 
350,000.μ and that a similar sum was consumed by the bills of exchange 
drawn from America for the beneAt of Messieurs Kalb, Beaumarchais, 
Bauluy, Ray de chaumont le Coulteux etc. and that with Mr. de Lafayette’s 
disinterestedness and all kinds of expenses during the three years in which 
he commanded the national guard and led such a great life, one should not 
be astonished that the French Revolution carried away from him the 
750,000.μ established in the second period covered by this report. 

Here ends the report of Mr. Morizot; he could have added a few more ob-
servations to explain further the totality of the expenses now under discus-
sion. The vessel that Mr. de Lafayette had bought in France and which had 
transported him, the oDcers sent by the American commissioners, the boxes 
of arms purchased in Bayonne etc. was lost on the return trip before it could 
be insured, which made a diCerence of one hundred thousand francs. The 
transportation of the belongings mentioned above, as well as the ones chosen 
by him for his troops, and other items, was always conducted at great ex-
pense, sometimes by post to deceive the enemy; the trips, from the one to 
Charlestown by land with all the oDcers given to him, to those to Spain and 
the Anal one to America, were very costly, and this, added to all the other 
considerations, makes less extraordinary General Lafayette’s decision not to 
involve either the American or the French governments. As for the French 
Revolution, those who were induced to follow this great movement and who 
appreciate General Lafayette’s expenses will not be surprised by them. 

Nevertheless, the fact remains that by selling 10,000.μ worth of annuities 
in land, he could have nulliAed the expenses mentioned above; 70,000.μ in 
income and a house worth one hundred thousand écus would have then re-
mained to him. The dowry of which he had only used 200,000.μ was to pro-
duce much more. It was thought that it would ultimately yield one million. It 

(a) The portion of the account and the observations made by Mr. Morizot have been 
copied literally without changing a word 
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is therefore true that General Lafayette after great sacriAces still had a suD­

cient fortune, and that his children, without taking into account other even-
tual inheritances could expect to receive a large patrimony; more than one 
hundred thousand francs were still owed to Mr. de Lafayette. 

But during the period of his exile his possessions became dilapidated and 
were sold; the debt was decreased by only 78000μ, by the sum reimbursed 
by Mr. de Naucaze’s settlement and by what was recovered from the Clav-
ières land. But as arrears in income amounting to 112,000.μ were all seized, 
his family found itself owing more than 80,000μ from the repairs to Chava-
niac, for daily expenses, etc. And as all his newly made military equipment 
was pilfered on Dumouriez’s arrival, there was also a loss of forty thousand 
francs; added to this was the roughly twenty thousand francs he took with 
him, the only resource for those who accompanied him into exile, and one 
will And at the time of his banishment an unexpected debt of more than 
300,000.μ 

It is true that Mr. Gouverneur Morris was willing some 
time later to loan one hundred thousand francs in assignats 
which, at the rate of depreciation, had been reduced in a man-
ner to produce at the time of payment 5% interest, a sum of 
68,000.μ that we will take into account later; but, not assign-
ing anything to the subsistence of his family or to the expenses 
arising from his persecuted condition, the trip of Mr. George 
Washington Lafayette to America, that of the rest of his fam-
ily to Hamburg etc., one can see that Mr. Morris’s generous 
advance found in the items mentioned above a kind of com-
pensation. It is impossible to discover the exact amounts spent 
during this confusing period when everybody was in danger, 
when all documents were burned; however, one can under-
stand that, without taking into account the expense of living 
in a foreign country, the debt anterior to his banishment 
amounted to at least 

The expenses caused by his captivity were enormous; the 
320,000.μ 

prisoners had to pay their own way as long as their money 
lasted, and as General Lafayette was the only one with some 
money, he had to take responsibility for his fellow prisoners. 
But this was a small matter in comparison with all that his Eu-
ropean friends did Anancially to save his life, to correspond 
with him, and to facilitate his escape. Some of them made great 
personal sacriAces, and the sums generously sent by the Amer-
ican government were swallowed up. General Lafayette’s fam-
ily provided for its own expenses while living in Olmutz. So 
that on arriving at Hamburg after an imprisonment of Ave 
years he found nothing of what had been intended for him and 
only an increased debt to Mr. Gouverneur Morris up to the 
time when he was paid 68000.μ; to Mr. Parish former United 
States consul, forty three thousand Livres; to Mr. Bollman a 
contract reduced to 30000.μ 141 000. 

Twenty-four thousand francs sent by Mr. King, a similar 
sum bequeathed by Mrs. Edwards, an English lady, were used 
to support General Lafayette and his family, to help a few 
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friends exiled in Holstein and in Holland and to pay for trips 
made by his family to France to recover the remnants of his es-
tate, until the time of his return in the year 8. a few months be-
fore the year 1800. 

At that time, Mr. de Luzignem his creditor for 100,000.μ 
was content with a payment in land. Madame de Narbonne 
consented to a repayment of a debt of 40,000.μ for half of this 
sum, in cash. In the papers of General Greene was found a 
note for 24,000.μ owed to his friend, but on the other hand 
General Lafayette had to make a payment of 20,000μ for a 
property near Lafayette that he had intended to pay oC with a 
sale in Brittany; the conAscation of both properties left him 
nothing but the debt; he was not required to pay all of the in-
terest that had been piling up on his debts, but it was neces-
sary to pay a great portion of it, whereas the interest on only a 
single debt from Mr. de Montmorin’s inheritance was paid; 
Finally, a lot of people for whom he had taken responsibility, 
either out of friendship, or because of the upheavals of the 
Revolution, having perished or Anding themselves insolvent, 
all these demands fell on him, and it is understandable that be-
fore recovering any part of his property, General Lafayette 
found himself, through a kind of mischance, owing about 
400,000.μ let us say only 

Regarding the one hundred thousand francs and more that 
was still owed to him, the SuCrein family 40,000μ the La-
tremoille family 20,000μ Mr. de Canillac 15,000.μ Mrs. 
Dulac 10,000μ etc. these people had all been Anancially ru-
ined and so all these accounts remained unpaid. 

Mr. de Lafayette found in Auvergne and in Brittany, not 
without some sacriAces 9000.μ in annuities; his mother-in-
law’s inheritance, divided sixteen months after his return, was 
reduced to an estate estimated at one hundred thousand écus, 
but that yielded only eight thousand francs in net rental in-
come, the house and the woods entering into this estimation 
for 54,000.μ There were a few annual expenses, a balance of 
23,000.μ and a compensation of 42,000.μ for his part in the 
repairs made to the farmhouses. The house, of which only the 
walls were sound, needed to have its whole interior renovated; 
Mr. de Lafayette found in it for himself and his family, neither 
furniture nor household linens, nor anything that constitutes 
an establishment; he had to buy everything. 

It is true that the government, which wanted to retain the 
Cayenne clove tree plantation, which had acquired great value 
during the previous twelve years and for which someone had 
made an initial oCer of three hundred thousand francs, bought 
it for 140,000. We will count this sum as compensation for all 
of the household and repair expenses mentioned above. 

It is in this situation that General Lafayette learned that the 
Congress of the United States was willing to undertake the 
restoration of his fortune and that instead of selling oC his 
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remaining properties, he could give them to his children and 
create at La Grange an establishment for himself and his fam-
ily, he was all the more encouraged to do so on learning that 
instead of military lands on the Ohio River, Congress was 
kind enough to give him more valuable land in Louisiana; a 
portion of which was adjacent to New Orleans: all the infor-
mation he received of this magniAcent present indicated it to 
be of immense value and assured him that no interest on a 
loan could equal the annual increase in the value of this 
superb property. 

The Arst eCect of this was that he freed himself from the 
balance of 23,000.μ advanced by his brother-in-law Mr. de 
Grammont, and from another 17 thousand francs he owed 
him as compensation and for money provided to his aunt 
in stormy times by placing this debt of 40,000.μ on the 
Louisiana lands. 

By marriage contracts he gave his three children the prop-
erties he had recovered; three thousand livres of annuities for 
each of them and he took care to increase the value of his 
mother-in-law’s inheritance, which he and her daughter had 
kept for their own use during their lifetime. 

The agricultural improvements he made there cost 
40,000.μ; it took more than 20,000μ worth of purchases to 
create an area for cultivation. His capital for agricultural de-
velopment cost him 30,000.μ Total. 

But also, instead of a farm rent of 8000μ, 2400. of which he 
90,000. 

ceded in order to pay for his expenses and which, consequently 
would be reduced to 5600.μ, he already draws from 12 to 
13000.μ from his farm and will take out more in the future, 
moreover he took a portion out of it and put in timber, which 
increased his expenses for improvements by more than 10,000. 

Therefore we will And in this outline a capital of 480,000μ 
General Lafayette married oC his three children, he suCered 

an accident that required him to travel, and other trips were 
required by sacred duties. His income during the Arst years 
after his return from exile was totally insuDcient. 
Let us say all these items add up to. 40,000. 

520,000μ 
Thus, without entering into details as accurate as Mr. Morizot’s, this ex-

plains how a sum in the neighborhood of one hundred thousand dollars to be 
paid oC was reached. 

Although it is true that General Lafayette’s fortune could have been settled 
at an earlier date for one hundred thousand dollars, the interest on most of 
the capital increased his debt annually. However, for a long time, he only 
mentioned this sum because it was always proposed to establish an income 
for him with a portion of the sales, part of which he would have used to pay 
the interest on the increase in capital such as it would have been at the time 
the Louisiana donation was made to him. The letters he was receiving gave 
him every assurance that the annual increase in the value of the lands coming 
to him would soon make up the diCerence. 
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Several years having gone by, the diCerence has become enormous, and the 
accumulated interest from his debts, the ruinous sacriAces that had to be 
made while waiting day after day for news from the United States, have in-
creased this sum prodigiously. Mr. Baring and Mr. Parker advanced him 
funds at 5%, the others charge 10 and 12, let us say 8% on average; Ave years 
have been enough to increase this sum by more than 200,000.μ, not count-
ing the interest on the interest; six years would bring it to more than 
250,000.μ and the expenses thus added to the capital of his debts com-
pounded each other. 

The misfortunes suCered by General Lafayette necessitated family ar-
rangements amiably made, but always costly, without counting the sacriAce 
of 2400.μ of income from farm rents foreign to its operation and intended to 
pay inheritance expenses. 

It can be seen that at the same time that the muniAcence of Congress 
pulled him and his family out of certain and undeserved ruin, it is of great 
importance that the resources that were so generously oCered and announced 
in such a friendly way be granted soon at least up to the complete settlement 
of his debts. 

From this report, the Arst part of which is a very exact statement given by 
Mr. Morizot, and the other an outline suDcient to understand General 
Lafayette’s situation; the expenses of the same kind, though successive, hav-
ing been put together, one can have an idea of the sums that would have been 
necessary as early as the Arst year of the Louisiana gift, what would be 
needed at the present time, and of the urgency of not wasting any time in the 
settlement of his debts. The American correspondence, as interrupted as it 
has been by political diDculties, guaranteed him a fortune not only equal to 
this settlement but also oCered a considerable surplus for his family; assum-
ing this is right, supposing his fortune settled by the gift of the Louisiana 
lands, and setting aside the surplus for his grandchildren’s future dowries, 
we will look for other income to allow him to live at La Grange. 

Through the family arrangement made between General Lafayette and his 
three children, he took care to pay all the capital on the common debts that 
enter into the account of incurred expenses to be paid from the Louisiana 
lands. 

He recognized his children’s right to 3000.μ in income each, in all 9000.μ, 
to properties in Auvergne and Brittany that were guaranteed to them by 
marriage contract, annuities of nine hundred francs in Brittany: two thou-
sand four hundred francs for farms in Brie from his mother-in-law’s inheri-
tance were abandoned to his children to pay annually the alms and pensions 
given to those who had suCered from misfortune. 

General Lafayette recognized his children’s ownership of the rest of the La 
Grange estate, but reserved for himself the use of it during his lifetime. This 
property consists of 

1st Woods so much increased in value that at present, without taking into 
account a young 26-acre forest, they earn about one thousand écus in income 
and are suDcient, despite the high price of this combustible, not only to pro-
vide for all the heating needs of the family, but also to cover a few other small 
expenses. 

2d A house that, from the expenses mentioned above, is now in good shape 
and suDciently furnished for him, his three children, his daughter-in-law, 
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his two sons-in-law, and seven grandchildren, making a total of fourteen 
people. 

3d A working farm that will bring him next year, all expenses taken into 
account, twelve to thirteen thousand francs in net income and will increase in 
value in ensuing years. 

4th To this landed income we must add the balance of the pension owed to 
his rank as general, which amounts to six thousand francs minus a slight de-
duction. 

It follows that supposing that all the debts are paid oC by the land Congress 
had the muniAcence to give him in Louisiana, each of Mr. de Lafayette’s chil-
dren receiving from him 3000.μ in annuities, all his family receiving room 
and board at his house, he would have an income of eighteen thousand livres 
in annuities, which will be successively raised to 20,000.μ 

This is how the gift of the United States would have saved him from an ap-
parently desperate situation by guaranteeing him possession of a strictly 
suDcient income, which a very small increase in his Louisiana settlements 
would render complete, and the expectation of a great future beneAt to his 
children, even if he were forced, in order to settle his debts, to abandon to the 
moneylenders half of the increase in value that will take place over the next 
10 years. 

N.B. Since the composition of this document, the information that has ar-
rived from Louisiana on the rate of the desired loan is so satisfactory, that it 
seems that a 10% interest rate accumulating with the principal, the whole 
thing payable within Ave to ten years, and mortgaged on the piece of land 
near the city, should oCer the moneylenders a suDcient advantage and all the 
security necessary. 

MS (DLC: TJ Papers, 228:40749– 
55); in an unidentiAed hand; undated; re-
peated sums at heads of pages omitted. 
FC (DLC: Lafayette Papers, La Grange 
microAlm). Translation by Dr. Genevieve 
Moene. This or variant versions also en-
closed in Lafayette to TJ, 20 Feb., 10, 24 
Mar., 25 Aug. 1810. 

The sum set aside during the American 
Revolution for louis et madame was 
apparently intended for Louis Marie, vi-
comte de Noailles, and his wife, Anne, 
Lafayette’s brother- and sister-in-law. In 
the summer of 1792 the revolutionary 
government in Paris proscribed Lafayette 
as a royalist traitor. He Bed France just 

prior to the arrival of General Charles 
François dumouriez to arrest him. 
Lafayette spent the next Ave years in var-
ious Prussian and Austrian prisons 
(ANB; Andreas Latzko, Lafayette: A Life 
[1936], 225; René de Chambrun, Les 
Prisons des La Fayette [1977]). 

FC here adds “exact.” q 

FC here adds “1er Juillet 1789.”
r 

FC: “cent mille ecus.”
s 

t Note inserted in left margin of MS 
and omitted in FC. 

MS: “la la.” FC: “la.” u 

v FC: “trois cent vingt mille francs.” 
FC here adds “Alexandre.” w 

MS: “de de.” FC: “de.” x 
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